

UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG School of Global Studies

Dismantling a ticking time bomb:

Horizontal Inequalities in Peacebuilding

Master Programme in Global Studies Master's Thesis, 30 hec Spring Semester 2019 Author: Hanna Svenhag Supervisor: Michael Schulz

Word Count: 17'646 words

Abstract

Understanding processes of peacebuilding, how peace is created and maintained, has inspired and intrigued an entire field of academics and practitioners. This thesis is an attempt to understand the role of horizontal inequalities (HIs) in the peacebuilding process of Uganda from the perspective of civil society. It explores their role in shaping the Ugandan society, as well as how they could potentially affect efforts towards sustaining long-term peace. The research is built on the premise that peacebuilding has traditionally been concerned with correcting and addressing vertical inequalities between individuals, while inequalities between groups have been neglected. The purpose of this research is, therefore, to expand the notion of peacebuilding and inequalities to recognise group inequalities as a potential threat to sustainable peace. The study found that civil society is aware of HIs in Uganda and the need for addressing them. However, initiatives to solve the deep-rooted structures upon which they are founded are limited. The results show that civil society works predominately intra-communally, while the hostile tribal dynamics creating HIs are found across communal boundaries. It was also found that the top-level leadership holds significant influence over the peacebuilding process, particularly in societies characterised by severe political HIs as this gives them power over resource allocation which impacts socioeconomic HIs. Finally, it was recognised that there is a severe lack of both data and approaches aimed at addressing issues of HIs in peacebuilding, particularly approaches not intended for top-level initiatives, leaving civil society with limited tools or capacity to address such largescale complexities.

Key words: Horizonal inequalities, Civil Society, Peacebuilding, Uganda, Acholiland

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to profoundly thank all the organisations and participants taking part in this research, without whom this study would not have been possible. Your insight, knowledge and willingness to share your opinion has been greatly appreciated.

I would also like to thank my supervisor, Michael Schulz, for providing me with continuous guidance, advice and encouragement whenever it has been needed.

I also thank the staff at RIDE AFRICA for interesting and fruitful discussions during my internship in Uganda. Your interest in my studies and your eagerness to help me understand the Ugandan culture and society, and its many complexities, provided me with a greater insight and understanding beyond that of which I could have found in the literature.

Finally, I would like to thank Johan Bergqvist at the Swedish embassy in Kampala, Uganda, for advising me, and connecting me with organisations and participants.

Table of contents

ABBREVIATIONSETHNOGRAPHIC MAP OF UGANDA	
INTRODUCTION & PROBLEM FORMULATION	
AIM AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
METHODOLOGY	
QUALITATIVE SEMI-STRUCTURED INTERVIEWS	
The interviewees	
Interview guide	
ANALYSISREFLECTIONS AND ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
DELIMITATIONS	
PREVIOUS RESEARCH	
HORIZONTAL INEQUALITY AND PEACEBUILDING	
LANGER (2009)	
McCoy (2008)	
MY CONTRIBUTION	
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND KEY CONCEPTS	23
HORIZONTAL INEQUALITY	23
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	
BACKGROUND	28
THE NORTHERN CONFLICT	28
RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	30
ROOT CAUSES OF THE CONFLICT	30
VISION FOR PEACE	
LOCAL PEACEBUILDING	
THE STRUCTURE OF RELATIONAL DYNAMICS	
TRACKS OF PEACEBUILDING	
CONCLUSION	42
BIBLIOGRAPHY	47
APPENDIXES	50
INTERVIEW GUIDE	50

Abbreviations

CT Conflict Transformation

GBV Gender Based Violence

Horizontal Inequality and Peacebuilding

Hanna Svenhag

HIs Horizontal Inequalities

IDPs Internally Displaced Persons

INGO International Non-Governmental Organisation

LRA Lord's Resistance Army

NGO Non-Governmental Organisation

VIs Vertical Inequalities

SUDAN UGANDA LUGBARA ACHOLI KARAMOJONG EBU -ALUR **Democratic Republic** BAGUNGU LANGI **ITESO** of the Albert CONGO BANYORO BAKENYI BAGWERE BANYOLE BASOGA BAAMBA BAGANDA Fortal Portal JOPADHOLA **BATORO** Kampala O BAKON BANYANKORE Lake Victoria Bantu Communities BAHORORO Luo/Nilotic Communities BAKIGA BANYARWAND Luo/Nilo-Hamitic Communities Ma'di-Moru Communities TANZANIA Nilo-Hamitic Communities RWANDA O Town O Capital

Ethnographic Map of Uganda¹

Based on Minority Rights Group International's 'Ethnic Groups and Tribes of Uganda', Uganda: The Marginalization of Minorities (2001). Boundaries are not definitive but are intended to show traditionally inhabited areas.

¹ Otunno, Ogenga. 2002. Causes and Consequences of the War in Acholiland: *Ethnographic Uganda*. London: Accord. https://www.c-r.org/downloads/Accord 11_2Causes and consequences of the war_2002_ENG.pdf

Introduction & Problem Formulation

This study seeks to understand the role of horizontal inequalities (HIs) in peacebuilding processes according to civil society. In the context of Uganda, the interest thus, lies in exploring how civil society understands how HIs shape the society, and most importantly, their role in the peace process. Furthermore, it explores potential complexities for addressing such inequalities by looking at the relational structures and actors in the peacebuilding process.

In the literature on peace and conflict, there is a growing consensus that HIs, defined by Stewart (2000: 245) as: "inequalities among groups in political, economic and social dimensions", are a source for animosity between groups, which increases the likelihood of violent conflict (Stewart 2000; Stewart, Brown, and Mancini 2005; Hillesund 2017; Brown and Langer 2010; McCoy 2008; Fjelde and Østby 2014; Cederman, Weidmann, and Bormann 2015). Additionally, Brown and Langer (2010: 28), claim that 'ethnic' conflicts, i.e. conflicts between different ethnic groups, quadrupled in its proportions out of all conflicts between the mid-20th century and 2005. Based on such information, it is fair to assume that HIs have played a significant role in creating hostility resulting in armed conflict in recent decades.

HIs take the shape of political, economic and social differences between groups and are tainted by discrimination of the disadvantaged group, which results in inequality. Political HIs are found in the representation and access to decision-making processes, as well as in security forces such as the military or the police (Brown and Langer 2010: 29). Economic HIs include (1) ownership over assets, such as, natural resources and land, and (2) accessibility to employment and income (Ibid.). The social dimension concerns the inequality in general wellbeing and quality of life. This refers to access and outcomes to many services, such as education, healthcare and housing (Ibid.). Allowing the continued existence of such inequalities can result in major grievances and even human rights abuses, as the affected population may have their rights denied as a result of a lack of access to education, healthcare and so on.

Previous research has predominately focused on the escalating and causal role of HIs on violent conflict (Hillesund 2019; Langer, Mustapha, and Stewart 2009; Brown and Langer 2010; Stewart 2010; Langer 2005; Stewart 2007; McCoy 2008; Langer and Stewart 2015; Fjelde and Østby 2014). In contrast, this research is interested in understanding what role HIs may take in building peace. This entails exploring if and how civil society are concerned with HIs in their peace efforts, the potential effect HIs have on shaping the society, and how they have been created and perpetuated.

HIs and peacebuilding will be studied in the context of Uganda; a country with a history of reoccurring conflict and instability deeply perpetuated by HIs, and even a decade after the civil war ended, the country is still struggling with grave group inequalities. While the country has seen many insurgencies since its independence in 1962, the focus of this thesis is limited to the current peacebuilding process following the end of the LRA war, short for Lord's Resistance Army, and is also referred to as the Northern Conflict – both terms will be used interchangeably throughout the thesis. Uganda has been chosen as the case study due to a clear history of HIs based on tribal and regional imbalances impacting the conflict and the post-conflict period. Furthermore, as approximately 10 years have passed since the conflict ended, Uganda is firmly placed in the peacebuilding stage. This allows both for an analysis and understanding of the peacebuilding process thus far and an exploration of a potential way forward.

Aim and Research Questions

The aim of this paper is to understand the role of HIs in the peacebuilding process of Uganda. The purpose is to explore how HIs affect the peacebuilding process from the perspective of civil society, or more specifically, international and local non-governmental organisations. The study does not undermine nor question the importance of traditional approaches to peacebuilding – such as statebuilding and economic development – but rather, seeks broaden the discussion to one with a greater emphasis on addressing HIs and their potential role in the peacebuilding process.

Research Questions

In order to further delimit the purpose of this study, the following overarching question is asked: What role do horizontal inequalities play in the peacebuilding effort of civil society?

This is further delimited by asking:

How does civil society view horizontal inequalities' role in shaping the society and the vision for peace in the context of Uganda?

Here I will explore how horizontal inequalities, according to civil society, have affected the Ugandan society, as well as the view on their place in the envisioned peace moving forward. This with the intention to establish the relevance of addressing such issues in the peacebuilding process.

How does civil society perceive salient group divisions and how they play out in the Ugandan context?

Through the perspective of civil society, this will be answered by looking at the relational structures of Uganda, and how such structures create and reinforce group belongings, which manifests themselves as horizontal inequalities.

What impact do peacebuilding actors have on the peacebuilding process and horizontal inequalities in Uganda?

Here I intend to examine how various peacebuilding actors influence the peacebuilding process in terms of reducing or reinforcing horizontal inequalities and facilitating or obstructing the peace efforts.

Relevance to Global Studies

Never before has our world been more interconnected than it is today. Society, culture, technology, the economy, the environment, and politics are all influencing and being influenced by globalisation. The field of peace and conflict is no exception. While violent conflicts today may not be compared to or labelled as 'world wars', the rest of the world plays a more active role in them than ever. The international community has a hand in every single conflict and in the ensuing peace. This is not only true for inter-state conflicts, but also for those defined as intra-state conflicts. Whether it be international actors selling the weapons (del Rio and Maman 2018), having an active role in the fighting ('Syria' n.d.), acting as mediators during the conflict resolution (Ramsbotham, Woodhouse, and Miall 2016: 217), or taking part of the peacebuilding process as actors or donors (Lilia and Höglund 2018) the international community has a role in the peacebuilding process. Furthermore, intrastate conflicts can also impact and contribute to instability and insecurity on a regional level. Uganda is no exception to this, particularly as it is located in a heavily conflict-stricken region. Several neighbouring countries also engaging in violent conflict have seen an over-spill of the Ugandan conflict, and equally, Uganda has seen an influx of refugees as a result of such intrastate conflicts. As such, with an understanding of the global dimension of peace processes, this research is of utmost relevance to the field of Global Studies.

Methodology

The research, seeking to understand the role of HIs in the peacebuilding process from the perspective of civil society in Uganda, was based on eleven (11) qualitative semi-structured interviews with a variety of organisations, all located in Uganda and involved in the peace process. The 11 organisations can be divided into two subcategories, five local grassroots non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and six international non-governmental organisations (INGOs).

The foundation of this study was built on a literature review. One which started the research process and continued throughout the collection of the empirical data, and during the writing to avoid "reinventing the wheel" (Bryman 2012a: 98). The literature review helps establish what has previously been studied and helps determine the gap in previous research. Furthermore, the literature review provides an understanding of the key theories and concepts in the area of research. Based on the literature review, a research design was created and was built on what Bryman (2012: 70) refers to as an 'exemplifying case'. The critique against case study research is often due to its focus on one specific case and thus, questions how generalisable it is (Bryman 2012: 69). However, Yin (2009: 48) argues that in the 'exemplifying case' the intention is to: "capture the circumstances and conditions of an everyday or commonplace situation". The chosen case study on Uganda, is to one extent unique as no conflict or peace context is exactly the same. However, many aspects of the context are recognisable in many of the contemporary conflicts and peace processes visible today. For example, in the ethnic/tribal aspect and its protracted nature. As such, despite being a specific case study, it provides insight into the complex nature of peacebuilding processes which can be applicable to other cases.

The interview guide was created based on the literature review and the research design, and was composed of five categories relating to peacebuilding and HIs: peace and conflict; inequality; development; national unity and ethnic divisions; and concluding general issues. The 11 semi-structured interviews conducted with local NGOs and INGOs in Uganda provided the empirical data of the research. The time-consuming nature of interviews and transcription meant that the process of transcribing was ongoing throughout the interviewing period. The empirical data was analysed through a thematic approach of themes and sub-themes relating to the original interview guide and based on frequently returning themes recognised throughout the interviews and the transcribing process. After the transcribing was completed, a first initial analysis was made purely based on the empirical data to allow it to speak for itself, absent from

theoretical influence (Creswell 2014: 29). After the initial analysis, more extensive previous research and theoretical research was conducted. Lederach's Conflict Transformation (CT) theory was central to the theoretical framework due to the focus on understanding the relationships which, he argues, lays the foundation for deep-rooted issues and the structures of a society. Furthermore, the emphasis on the different levels of peacebuilding; from top-level leadership to grassroots levels provided a tool to analyse the empirical data derived from both the grassroots levels and the middle-range leadership. Additionally, Stewart held a significant role due to her wide contributions in the area of HIs for which she has become widely referenced in the literature.

Qualitative semi-structured interviews

Semi-structured interviews were conducted to collect the empirical data upon which the research was based. The lack of data, both quantitative and qualitative, on group level inequalities, is both a consequence and evidence of the severe shortage of research on HIs (Stewart, Brown and Mancini 2005: 3; Stewart 2006: 7). As such, the interviews were essential to take the research beyond the data available on national level to understand the complexity of the context through a closer perspective focusing on regional and group differences.

Through an epistemological position referred to as 'interpretivism' the research seeks to understand the social world from the perspective of the participants themselves (Bryman, 2012: 380). The loose structure of the semi-structured interviews allows the interviewees to somewhat unrestrictedly steer the conversation how they wish. This to the extent to where they can linger on issues they consider are of high importance. Thus, the semi-structured interviews provide insight into the priorities of the interviewees themselves (Bryman 2012: 470).

The interviews were all conducted in English and no interpreter was needed. Furthermore, all the interviews were recorded, which was agreed upon at the start of each interview. Establishing trust between the participant and the researcher is imperative when conducting research, particularly interviews which intend to explore the reality of the participants, and especially when the research is on sensitive issues (Bahn and Weatherill 2013: 21). This is connected to the handling and presentation of the collected data in which the topic of anonymity becomes relevant. During the interview process, each interviewee was given the alternative to decide how and if, they wanted to remain anonymous. However, as the writing process proceeded, to protect all the interviewees to the greatest extent possible, all organisations and individuals have been coded both in-text and in the reference list.

Occasionally, difficulties arose in relation to the interview process. For example, surrounding noise levels during the recording of a small number of the interviews complicated the transcribing process. Other issues related to interviewees being relatively newly employed (within the year) meant that there were instances where they were careful to supply an answer or strongly emphasised that they were unsure due to not being present at the time, this related mostly to previous initiatives that had been taken. Reflections and issues on ethical terms are to be discussed later.

The interviewees

The local organisations provided a greater perspective of what the grassroots really wanted, expected and needed from the peacebuilding process, while simultaneously being able to recognise the structural dimensions of the process. The international organisation where slightly more disconnected from the interaction with the affected population, which is attributed to a mandate more often focused on monitoring and observing as opposed to the more hands-on approach of the local NGOs. However, this allowed the INGOs to have a more evaluative and critical view on how the peacebuilding process was going thus far, and to have a greater focus on the deep-rooted structural issues upon which other, more visible issues, were created.

Five local and six international organisations were interviewed, providing the empirical data of the research. The two types of organisations were approached based on previous research suggesting a potential difference between the two groups. This is also recognised in the CT theory by Lederach where he points to three different levels of the peacebuilding process where international and local organisations belong to the second and third 'tracks' of peacebuilding (1997: 38-39). The grassroots NGOs often engage directly with their targeted beneficiaries, this positions them in proximity to the affected population giving them greater access to the perceptions, needs, and feelings of the local population as well as, an understanding for the grievances, priorities and challenges that remain for individuals and communities.

The INGOs were instead expected to provide an overarching observational perspective (Lederach 1997: 39) as they are usually removed from the immediate challenges of individuals thus, complementing the local level in the peacebuilding process. Furthermore, local NGOs and INGOs may experience different restrictions, partners and budgets. The two groups may also have experienced the conflict and its aftermath differently, all of which may influence the perspectives on the peacebuilding process, what issues are prioritised, and what the main obstacles are for ensuring stability and peace. That said, it is relevant to highlight the occasional

difficulty of differentiating between the local and the international levels, as there were 'pure' international organisations with internationally leading staff and which had a regional or global presence elsewhere. Other organisations defined themselves as international due to international partner/mother organisations, but consisted of local staff and with mandate and activities more similar to the grassroots organisations. At times, the answers of such organisations were more aligned with the local organisations than with the international ones. Choosing the organisations was mainly based on the available information online, as well as through contacts at the Swedish Embassy, and through the organisations themselves. Considering the aim and interest of the research, the organisations were engaged in the field of peace and conflict, and/or focused on related topics such as development, peacebuilding, reconciliation, and human rights.

The interviews took place in three geographical locations across Uganda. The majority of them in Gulu, the largest city in the Acholi sub-region in the Northern Ugandan region, and was the heart of the LRA war and the ensuing peacebuilding process. Two interviews were conducted in Lira, the neighbouring district with a different dominating ethnic group compared to Gulu, and finally three interviews in Kampala, the capital. The three locations were chosen to attain a more complete understanding of the regional context as the location might influence the actors that the organisations engage with, how they perceive the conflict itself and the peacebuilding process. All of this could ultimately impact their mandate, priorities, and the opinions concerning what activities ought to take place. When attaining information and gathering the empirical data, the three locations and the different statuses (local or international) of the organisations were thus considered important factors for the research to attain a more wholesome understanding for the perspectives of the peacebuilding process.

Interview guide

One interview guide (appendix I) was created for all organisations, regardless of status (local or international) or location. By using the same categories and similar sets of questions, their differences and similarities became more prominent. The five categories setting the structure for the interviews were: peace and conflict; inequality; development; national unity and ethnic divisions; and concluding general issues of how they would like to see the process moving forward. The categories were chosen based on previous research related to peacebuilding and HIs, which is centred around politics, development, inequality and ethnic divisions. Asking open-ended questions on these categories, without alluding too strongly towards HIs, allowed

the interviewees to highlight whatever issues they perceived to be of priority. Furthermore, the categories intended to provide the research with both an understanding of the organisations' perceptions of the conflict setting, the current situation, the future they would like to see and the potential obstacles for getting there. As mentioned previously, the interviewees were encouraged to talk uninterruptedly with minimal interference to ensure that their opinions and perspectives came through as much as possible. This meant that the interview guide was merely that—a guide. Questions followed the line of the discussion to reduce the risk of steering the conversation one way or another. As a qualitative researcher it is important to be aware of one's own bias and the subjectivity one may put on the research in terms of the what is perceived as important (Bryman 2012: 405) to minimise the impact on the empirical data and the course of the interviews. There was an awareness around this complexity while conducting the interviews so as to steer the conversations only so much to ensure that it stayed on topic with relevant information, but simultaneously allowing the interviewee relatively free range to express their priorities.

Soon after the interviewing process started it was realised that the themes were sufficient on their own as the specific questions were too narrow and too guiding. This was already suspected as the questions were very detailed and interlinked and thus, it was likely that a number of questions would be answered at the same time. However, being a beginner at conducting interviews for data collection, the questions provided a safety-net to fall back on which was needed less frequently as the process continued.

Analysis

The empirical data was analysed using a thematic approach organised by categories, themes and sub-themes. The transcribing process provided the initial analysis as the thorough detailing of each interview provided primary reflections (beyond that during the interviews themselves) and an overview of the most highlighted topics (Kvale and Brinkmann 2009: 180). Secondly, categories were extracted during a second more detailed reading. The categories were closely related to the five categories of which the interview guide had been created, with a few additions depending on frequent topics, questions and answers, including for example, past and future initiatives, and frustration. The third step was the creation and colour-coding of themes and sub-themes which were extracted through the mode of repetition, i.e. the topics frequently discussed were highlighted as their repetition suggested a common priority among the organisations (Bryman 2012: 580). One such theme was 'economic aspects' under which sub-

themes included for example, poverty, livelihood, unemployment, and economic empowerment.

The themes and sub-themes were also coded depending on their dimension of HIs. As the aspect of HIs and non-HIs can easily become interlinked, the coding aimed to differentiate between them. For example, economic issues were recognised as individual and communal issues without a recognition of regional or tribal differences. However, as soon as there was a recognition of regional or tribal dimensions to the situation, for example, that the north would be discriminated against or of political dimensions creating inequalities within the country, such acknowledgements highlighted a structural issue, which suggested a focus on HIs as opposed to an absolute situation or vertical inequalities (VIs). Finally, a table was created in which local and international organisations were divided. Following the structure of the various categories, each individual organisation and its highlighted sub-themes were noted and again colour-coded according to their umbrella theme colour for clearer overview. Lastly, the sub-themes of all organisations were clustered together as the main themes under each category were noted in the margins - with local and international organisations still divided.

At this point, a first complete text stating the general results and findings of the empirical data was presented, and soon thereafter the initial analysis took place. So far, the analytical process had seen limited incorporation of theories and theoretical background, beyond the initial literature review, which had created the categories for the interview guide. Such a method was employed to allow the empirical material to "speak for itself" (Creswell 2014: 29) and to protect the initial analysis of the empirical findings from being influenced by the theoretical framework or previous research. Finally, the empirical data has been analysed following a structure of the previously mentioned categories, now clustered into six areas. The empirical data and analysis were finally linked to already existing theory and main debates in the field of peacebuilding and HIs. The theoretical framework took an emphasis on the relational aspect of Lederach's CT theory (1997), the three tracks of peacebuilding and bottom-up approaches. Furthermore, recognition of addressing root causes as vital to the peacebuilding process, as highlighted by McCoy (2008) was included, and Stewart (2000; 2006; 2010) provided the basis for the key concept on HIs due to being commonly referenced in literature on the topic, and because of her vast research on HIs.

Additionally, it was found that a natural consequence of the semi-structured approach meant that the order in which the five categories of the interview guide were discussed could vary. For example, during the interviewing process and the transcribing, it was noted that depending on how quickly the topic of national unity and ethnic divisions came up, the

conversation around development and inequality varied. If national unity and ethnic divisions were discussed prior to inequality, this topic was more likely to be discussed in terms of inequality in development within Uganda. However, when national unity and ethnic divisions came up later, inequality was overwhelmingly discussed in terms of gender equality, and development in terms of local and community development, as opposed to a reflection or comparison between regions.

Reflections and ethical considerations

As a researcher, part of the research process is to be aware of the ethical debates that may arise during the process, this to ensure that careful choices and considerations are consciously taken. A central ethical consideration is the 'do no harm' mentality which includes the confidentiality of records to protect the identity of the participants of the study (Bryman 2012: 136). The nature of this research poses an ethical issue due to its political discussions concerning the central state in a country which is considered partly free in terms of political and civil freedom and where opposition to the government is routinely prosecuted (Freedom House 2018). This research was therefore, conducted with complete anonymity with no names mentioned, neither individual nor organisations. The issue of anonymity was discussed on tape before or after the interviews to give the interviewees the chance to express their position on the matter, however, during the writing process, the executive decision to treat the organisations with complete anonymity was taken.

In all but one case were the interviewees contacted with weeks' notice informing them about the research. It was a careful area to navigate so as to reveal sufficient information to avoid the ethical dilemma of deception (Bryman 2012: 148) where the participants are unaware of the true nature of the research, but without giving detailed enough information so as to influence the course of the discussions. Furthermore, me, the researcher, has not conducted the study in a vacuum and as such, there is always a need to be cautious in terms of subjectivity and bias (Pillow 2003: 176). Being careful not to take sides or allowing my preconceptions to steer the conversation according to previous assumptions was important to avoid the research from becoming impacted by my moral and political agenda as opposed to truly reflecting the views of the participants (Bryman 2012: 149).

Additional ethical considerations relate to the sensitivity around the topic of HIs itself as it has been a source for tensions and conflict in the history of Uganda. Therefore, navigating the issue with caution and without forcing the issue of tribal inequality was important to avoid

the topic from causing rifts. Finally, the participants were given time to add or question things at the end of the interview so as to ensure that the interviews were not left with doubts or concerns.

Delimitations

Despite a lengthy history of conflict in Uganda and an enduring presence of HIs which has unmistakably impacted the current situation, the study has been confined to the most recent peacebuilding period related to the LRA conflict. It is thus, not exploring the protracted nature of the conflict beyond that which provides the contextual background for the current setting. Instead, the focus has remained with the role HIs have been given during the peacebuilding process as their impact on the Ugandan society has been immense. That said, although the study seeks to understand how HIs impact Uganda, the research revolves around the role of, and attention given to, HIs during peacebuilding process, with the intention of understanding how to minimise their impact as Uganda moves forward.

The peacebuilding process has been studied out of the perspective of civil society with a particular focus on what Lederach would define as Track II and III peacebuilding actors: grassroots NGOs and international NGOs. This is due to the interest in understanding the role given to HIs by peacebuilding actors during the peace process, and not necessarily the perception of HIs or how they are experienced, in which case the affected population would have been the targeted participants. Additionally, the limited scope of the research contributed to the decision to exclude the grassroots population to allow greater focus on civil society itself and the potential similarities and differences within this group of actors. Equally as the grassroots population has not taken part of this research, the top-level leadership at political levels has not had a role beyond that of what civil society discussed. The reasoning for this is primarily due to the substantial research already existing from this perspective. Although, there are relatively limited studies on the topic of HIs and peacebuilding, much of what exists, is in relation to the top-level leadership.

Furthermore, the interest of this research has not been to explore whether the subjective and objective HIs reflect one another. This is partly due to the lack of data to provide foundations for such thorough comparisons, but it is also due to wanting to understand the reality from the perspective of civil society, not in terms of quantitative data. Additionally, due to a vast range of issues discussed with the interviewees, the analysis has centred around HIs as the main interest area of the research. This includes minimising the focus around, for example, gender issues, which was frequently highlighted by the interviewees. Although it is

important to recognise that such issues have been greatly prioritised by the organisations, in relation to the research questions' focus on understanding the specific role that HIs have in the peacebuilding process, other issues, while still of importance to the peacebuilding process, have received limited attention in this study.

Previous research

The following section will look at previous research in the field of HIs and peacebuilding. Most of the research concerning HIs is in the context of conflict rather than its role during the peacebuilding process. However, a number of studies have been conducted focusing on for example, policy approaches aimed at the reduction of HIs with articles from the likes of Frances Stewart (2006) and Stewart, Brown, and Langer (2007). Additionally, research exploring the aspect of legal empowerment to reduce HIs includes scholars such as, Waldorf (2019), and Mustapha (2009) is among scholars studying the concept of 'affirmative action' in relation to HIs and peacebuilding.

The following section will outline previous research related to peacebuilding and approaches for reducing HIs. It starts by outlining traditional approaches to peacebuilding, such as statebuilding and economic development. This is of interest to the research due to them being, in many ways, mainstreamed approaches to peacebuilding. Therefore, when exploring the, at times rather meagre attempts to produce long-term stability, it is important to recognise and examine their strength and weaknesses to identify how they could be improved and developed. Additionally, combining them with other approaches could be beneficial to reach the end goal; long-term peace. Scholars with focus on HIs, including for example, Stewart, tend to suggest that traditional peacebuilding approaches are so-called 'blind' towards HIs. Upon outlining such claims, alternative approaches suggesting a more direct focus on HIs during the peacebuilding process are presented. Due to a relatively scarce number of studies on the topic, the research available addresses both approaches to correct HIs as preventative measures for avoiding conflict as well as, approaches in the post-conflict peacebuilding period. The section on previous research will be rounded up by looking at two case studies of in-depth research projects by Langer (2009) and McCoy (2008), focusing on Ghana and, Rwanda and Mali respectively.

Horizontal inequality and peacebuilding

In the report 'Policies towards Horizontal Inequalities in Post-Conflict Reconstruction' Stewart (2006) emphasises the importance of carefully taking HIs into account when approaching these methods;

"Normal economic policy package of liberalisation and market forces is not generally sufficient to reduce HIs, or even to prevent them widening, while democratic institutions are often not sufficient to prevent HIs arising on the political dimension."

(Stewart 2006: 5)

Through this statement, Stewart argues that both economic and political dimensions of HIs are overlooked in traditional peacebuilding approaches such as economic development and statebuilding. It is suggested that such approaches to peacebuilding are insufficient in societies with a history of persistent group inequalities, as the neglect of HIs can instead contribute to increased hostility between groups and ultimately provoke violent conflict.

The purpose of statebuilding is the (re)building of institutions and the strengthening of the state apparatus, which is often considered vital for ensuring development and security in post-conflict settings (Tom 2017: 53). However, in societies with clear group divisions, political parties are often created along group identity with loyalty towards the group it belongs to and represents. This becomes problematic as, traditionally, statebuilding does not specify anything in terms of representation beyond that of multi-party democracy. In societies of deep HIs, Stewart (2006: 5) argues that the strength and capabilities of state institutions mean little if the mode of governance is coloured with salient and hostile group divisions, which can instead result in graver political exclusion rather than greater inclusion.

Economic development is centred around economic growth and poverty reduction, often by opening the markets and promoting privatisation and increased export (Smoljan 2003: 245). Such initiatives are intended to produce greater macro-economic stability, reduce poverty and create employment (Stewart, Brown and Langer 2007: 4). However, a major criticism for the 'blindness' of HIs in policies aimed at economic development is its failure to be context sensitive. In many countries in which such policies are introduced, Uganda included, 'divide and rule' policies originating from the colonial era have engrained HIs into the very structure of the society. As such, favourable and unfavourable conditions have been created across the country with usually one region or group having experienced long-term privilege compared to others (Stewart, Brown and Langer 2007: 18-9). It is thereby suggested that the privileged

group will experience disproportionate profit, as they are likely to find themselves in a more beneficial and enabling environment facilitating further development, while those less privileged remain several steps behind. Consequently, rather than contributing to a flourishing peacebuilding process, this can result in an exacerbation of already existing group inequalities.

Previous research specifically aimed at reducing HIs during peacebuilding is predominantly focused on top-level initiatives to reduce HIs through policy-making. These policies can broadly be divided into three categories: direct; indirect; and integrationist policies. Direct approaches include for example 'affirmative action' and policies which directly target and benefit the discriminated and unprivileged group (Waldorf 2019: 443). It includes for example, quotas in employment, education, decision-making positions (Mustapha 2009: 561), and access to housing (Stewart, Brown and Langer 2007: 18). Introducing such policies are however, at risk of increasing frustration among the group/s not benefitting from this preferential treatment and ultimately could reinforce group divisions rather than mend them. Therefore, the indirect approaches are often preferred.

Indirect policies are universally implemented policies affecting everyone in the society but should result in greater benefits for the disadvantaged group, thus contributing to reducing group inequalities (Waldorf 2019: 443). Such policies include investment over regions, human rights legislation and enforcement, regional development programmes, taxation and so on (Stewart, Brown, and Langer 2007: 7). These policies are less likely to stir up salient group divisions and inter-group hostilities, however, in societies where HIs are so deeply engrained into the society, investment in public services and infrastructure (often part of regional development programmes), is suggested to be insufficient for closing the gap between groups.

The third approach is less frequently discussed, due largely to the focus on contributing to integration rather than the reduction of HIs. A benefit of the integrationist approaches is suggested to be their potential for reducing hostile attitudes and stereotypes thus, contributing to greater unity (Interview C 2019). This may in turn, contribute to the reduction of HIs. Integrationist approaches include ban on ethnic/religious political groups, mixed schools, and the promotion of an over-arching national identity (Stewart, Brown and Langer 2007: 7).

Beyond state initiatives, the international community and civil society have potential to contribute to the reduction of HIs in their peacebuilding efforts. While there is much less research on this topic, in the case where the state is unwilling to commit to reducing HIs, other actors could be relevant. Stewart (2000: 258) suggests that in situations where the state is reluctant to commit to the reduction of HIs, the international community ought to impose greater conditions on the state to do so. Along the lines of the conditionalities imposed by the

IMF and the World Bank on their loan-takers, Stewart suggests that donors and investors of the international community ought to place conditions on states to reduce HIs in order to receive support. This, however, raises an issue in terms of local ownership over the peacebuilding process and to what extent the international community has a right to make such demands.

Langer (2009)

In his article 'Living with Diversity: the peaceful management of horizontal inequalities in Ghana', Langer (2009) does *not* explore how HIs result in violent conflict, but instead focuses on the peaceful management of such inequalities to avoid conflict from erupting. The case of Ghana is interesting and, similarly to the case of Uganda, has been characterised by a north-south divide due to ethnic, social and economic divisions. Although Ghana has experienced occasional political instability and ethnic tensions, major violent conflict has been avoided (Langer 2009: 535). By exploring quantitative data over political representation, the enactment of political policies, and presenting the origin and continuation of socioeconomic inequalities, Langer presents the case Ghana and its relation to HIs.

Langer (2009) presents two major factors to the containment of conflict; the role of the state and the role of identity. The research is largely focused on the top-level leadership and its efforts to reduce HIs through indirect policy approaches, for example by recognising minority languages (Ibid.: 542). It is suggested that the state created an environment where ethnic belonging and identity was accepted, while also promoting a national identity under which all Ghanians belong. Langer's (2009) case study on Ghana highlights the power of the state in reducing ethnic tensions to the degree that wide-scale stability has been maintained. Although it should not be ignored that there have been serious threats to this stability, it has, nevertheless, remained. While severe socioeconomic inequalities have been present throughout the history of Ghana, suggesting an inability or inefficiency to appropriately eliminate them, the political willingness and determination to minimise their existence as well as, a commitment to political inclusion has seemingly been sufficient to contain HIs from triggering violent conflict. As such, Langer (2009: 542) highlights how salient group divisions could, in part thanks to the unequivocal commitment of political leaders, live side-by-side peacefully.

McCoy (2008)

McCoy (2008) analyses the post-conflict peacebuilding processes in Mali and Rwanda. The intention of the research is to look at how the peacebuilding in the two case studies have been

approached to provide a future practitioners guide for policymakers and others in the field. The particular focus for this is the rectifying of HIs which McCoy claims, is available to read in theory, however, less frequently realised in practice (2008: 131). There are also brief remarks about the role of the international community in the peacebuilding process, which is considered having plentiful experience in the field of peacebuilding.

McCoy argues for the importance of three sides of any peace process: peace agreement; truth and reconciliation; and access in terms of citizenship, property and identity. In terms of peace agreements, he highlights issues such as allowing realistic time for the peace process, without which, a too hurried peace process is likely to take place with risk of the peace falling through (McCoy 2008: 122). Secondly, he highlights the importance of including as many actors as possible into the peace process, and thirdly, the necessity to address the root causes of the conflict is emphasised. The next focus has a greater emphasis on HIs. McCoy suggests that by neglecting the dimension of HIs during development and post-conflict settings could result in missing signs for potential mobilisation (McCoy 2008: 123). Continuing on this route, McCoy emphasises the need for developing structures for peace by addressing issues of economic, social, political and refugee injustices.

Truth and reconciliation, McCoy claims, is important for the population and society to heal after experiencing atrocious acts of war. Without such processes, including truth-telling and the admitting of acts regardless of whether they are made in the name of the state or its opponent, McCoy claims trust will not be developed, and without this, he argues, cooperation will not exist (2008: 129). In such divided societies, where mistrust is likely to characterise the society, truth and reconciliation processes are therefore vital to the peace process. Lastly, McCoy emphasises the need for inclusiveness in the society where the population is free from discrimination of any sort (he gives the example of citizenship and land access) on the basis of identity. Throughout his research, realising a peace process where inclusion, reunion and fairness across all groups has thus, been the emphasis for McCoy and is the overarching three categories he deems vital to create circumstances favourable for peace.

My contribution

The contribution of this thesis is its focus on civil society and its perspective on, and the role it gives to, HIs in its peacebuilding efforts, as opposed to the currently overwhelming emphasis on top-level leadership approaches. As such, this thesis takes a more local position compared to previous research by allowing civil society, through grassroots level-based organisations and

international organisations, claim centre stage of the research. This will be analysed through a theoretical framework led by Lederach's 'conflict transformation' (CT) theory. Furthermore, McCoy contributes by emphasising the need to address root causes of conflicts and the need for reconciliation, together with Stewart and Hillesund who provide the key concepts and essential understanding of the prevalence of HIs in the context of conflict and peace.

Theoretical framework and key concepts

This chapter will establish the theoretical framework and the relevant key concepts of the research. The first section addresses HIs, as well as, explores their contribution to the escalation of violent conflict. Stewart (2000), being the most influential in theorising the connection between HIs and conflict, holds a central role for understanding how the two are connected. The following section centres around the prominent peace researcher Lederach and his CT theory. In its most simplistic explanation the CT theory is; "[...] an understanding that conflict is a normal social occurrence and, therefore, focus on the transformation of the violent *conduct* into a peaceful one" (Paffenholz 2014: 13). In other words, it highlights the need for transforming violent management of conflict to a peaceful one. Additionally, the emphasis on addressing the root causes of conflict during peacebuilding is recognised through McCoy (2008), and, the three 'Tracks' of peacebuilding actors as according to Lederach's CT theory provides insight into the suggested roles of peacebuilding actors. Finally, the aspect of local ownership over the peacebuilding process is discussed.

Horizontal inequality

HIs are, in contrast to the more frequently discussed *vertical inequalities* between individuals, inequalities between groups. These groups can be based on the premises of for example, religion, gender, age, ethnicity (Stewart, Brown, and Mancini 2005), or as in the case of Uganda, a combination of tribal belonging and on regional basis. HIs can be divided into four categories. The three main dimensions are; political, economic, and social. The fourth one, the cultural dimension, applies to the hierarchical status between different groups' cultural norms, languages and the customs they practice (Brown and Langer 2010: 29; Stewart 2010: 2). However, the focus here will remain with HIs in the economic, social and political spheres as they are the most frequently recognised spaces within the study of HIs.

Political HIs are concerned with access to, and distribution of, political power and opportunities; including the presidency and ministerial posts, the distribution and control over

local and regional government, the parliament, the army, and the police (Stewart 2010: 2). Arguably the main consequence of political HIs, is its impact on economic and social HIs. While an imbalance in political power does not automatically entail inequalities in the economic and/or social dimensions, they do hold significant power over the distribution of resources in a country (Hillesund 2019: 531), and thereby holds significant power over potential creation or efforts to minimise socioeconomic HIs. The economic dimension include assets such as, land, livestock as well as, infrastructure (Stewart 2000: 250), but also refers to income levels and employment opportunities – including both governmental and private sectors as well as, the level of skilled contra unskilled labour (Stewart 2000: 249; Brown and Langer 2010: 29). Social inequalities on the other hand are in terms of access to a wide range of services including healthcare and education, but also the general state of wellbeing including poverty levels and access to drinking water (Ibid.; Ibid.) as well as, the *outcomes* of the services available (Stewart 2010: 2).

The presence of HIs in a society do not categorically entail that violent conflict erupts. However, increasingly, conflicts with elements of HIs at the root of the conflict based along ethnic lines, tribes, religions and regional demarcations are taking place and it is important to understand how the two, HIs and conflict, impact one another. The HIs hypothesis states: '[...] when cultural differences coincide with economic and political differences between groups, this can cause deep resentment that may lead to violent struggles' (Stewart and Brown 2007: 222 in Stewart 2010: 1). In other words, it is suggested that it is the presence of political and economic inequality combined with, and along the lines of, distinctively different cultural groups, which contributes to the rise of inter-group hostilities which increases the likelihood of armed conflict.

However, while Stewart emphasises the importance of a *combination* of socioeconomic and political HIs to result in violent conflict, Hillesund (2019) argues that the development of violent conflict is not dependent on the combination of HIs, but that the target for addressing such imbalances depends on the dimension of HIs. She claims that when a group is economically disadvantaged, both civil war (including the state) and communal war (not including the state) is likely. However, when the hostilities are due to political exclusion the target becomes the government (Ibid.). The target, she argues, lies in the agency for change and power, in which correcting political exclusion is addressed through the central government, while this is not necessarily the case for economic HIs where political exclusion is not a factor (Hillesund 2019: 549).

Another escalating factor is that of objective and subjective HIs. Barrows in Brown and Langer (2010: 45) suggests that; "[...] a subjective estimate of horizontal inequalities [is] the

strongest predictor of violence". However, this does not entail that objective HIs are not significant for the development of conflict. Objective HIs can lay the foundation for grievances which may contribute to tensions. However, the addition of negative perception towards this inequality and discrimination is likely to be the decisive factor for tensions turning violent (Hillesund 2019: 3). This is relevant to this research as understanding and addressing the subjective HIs could prove to be vital to the peacebuilding process. As will be discussed, major bitterness and frustration is aimed at the Ugandan government due to the perception that it is unwilling to commit to reducing HIs and develop the north. Such negativity remains despite great efforts made by civil society to address the needs of the people as the seeming reluctance of the government reinforces group hostilities as the perception that the north is ignored and neglected, remains.

Theoretical Framework

Lederach's CT theory centres around the need for transforming hostile relationships into peaceful ones. By reconstructing relationships, it is argued, peacebuilding moves beyond only addressing the immediate problems presented at the surface, to creating constructive change. It is said that by solving the underlying issues, which left unsolved are likely to continue triggering conflict (Lederach 1997), the development of sustainable and long-term peace is possible. Furthermore, Lederach suggests the importance of approaching the peacebuilding process with a vision for peace, also in terms of how short-term initiatives are approached. This, he argues, is even more important in societies of deep-rooted issues (1997: 78). This resonates with the Ugandan case, which has seen a reoccurrence of violent conflict during its post-independent era as a result of mistrust, patrimonial politics, and the idea that political power and security is achieved through violent means (Lomo and Hovil 2014: 15, 20).

In addition to rebuilding broken relationships in which hostility resides, the CT theory encompasses;

"[...] a deep transformation in the institutions and discourses that reproduce violence, as well as in the conflict parties themselves and their relationships. It corresponds to the underlying tasks of structural and cultural peacebuilding."

(Ramsbotham, Woodhouse, and Miall 2016: 35)

The most commonly cited work of Lederach for his CT theory is his book from 1997, 'Building Peace; Sustainable Reconciliation in Divided Societies'. Here, Lederach presents his

three 'tracks' through which peacebuilding approaches take place. Track I refers to the top level leadership of key political and military leaders (Lederach 1997: 38). Track II includes middle-range leadership which refers to actors such as, ethnic and religious leaders, leaders of humanitarian NGOs, academics and intellectuals. While Track III comprises of the grassroots leadership thus, includes for example local leaders and leaders of indigenous NGOs (Ibid.: 39). The three Tracks provides a useful tool for analysing the roles and activities of both the state and civil society during peacebuilding processes. This is significant to the analysis of this research as the influence of these actors can sway the direction of the peacebuilding process. A closer insight on the peacebuilding actors can contribute to the understanding of how they can aid or hinder the peacebuilding process. Their actions and inactions are relevant to understand how potential initiatives and projects may contribute to a stable and peaceful Uganda, or to its relapse into conflict.

Track I approaches to building peace are largely revolved around what is often considered conflict resolution as they, according to Lederach, primarily focus on immediate problem-solving issues through top-level negotiations, the establishing of a ceasefire and taking on the role as mediators (Ibid. 39, 45). This creates an environment which enables the following stages of peacebuilding. However, as will be discussed in the context of Uganda, limiting their role to such a narrow definition greatly underestimates the power and influence such actors hold over other levels involved in the peacebuilding process.

Track II, is according to Lederach the most vital level to the peacebuilding process due to its position between the local grassroots level and the top-level leadership giving it access and potential to influence several levels of the peacebuilding (Lederach 1997: 60-1). Furthermore, it is considered to facilitate the process of resolving and managing deeper issues that are often at the root of the protracted nature of many current conflicts (Ibid.: 47). McCoy (2008: 123), also emphasises the importance of addressing the root causes of conflicts, however, primarily through Track I initiatives, during the negotiations of peace accords. He suggests that when HIs are left unaddressed, relapse of conflict is very likely. However, in the case of Uganda, where HIs were recognised as a root cause of the conflict, the commitment to reduce HIs, which was outlined in national peacebuilding projects, have shown to be insufficient as HIs remain a destructive component in Uganda. This suggests that the attention given to HIs during the initial stage of the peacebuilding process has thus far, been insufficient. Furthermore, as will be discussed in the analysis, efforts to address HIs among Track II actors are rather limited. This will be explored and discussed in greater detail in relation to the result and analysis of the empirical data.

Track III, grassroots level leadership, is the level expected to reach the largest amount of people through its initiatives according to Lederach (1997: 43). Furthermore, it is considered the best level for addressing and tending to the direct needs of the affected population. However, there is little recognition from Lederach on how these actors can be restricted or influenced by Track I and II, for example, due to their resource dependency from international sponsors and donors. A significant criticism aimed at the CT theory is the neglect of recognising how the grassroots levels may be limited in the absence of state initiatives, or how the power balance between the three levels may influence the course of the peacebuilding (Fetherston 2000: 207). This has also been recognised by several of the interviewees.

There has been a significant shift in the field of peacebuilding where bottom-up approaches and the 'local' (which in itself carries an interesting debate which this thesis will not elaborate on) are being increasingly agreed upon on as the prominent approach towards building peaceful societies (Lederach 1997; Weiss, Daws, and Paris 2018). Compared to previous lines of top-down approaches, this recent approach involves grassroots levels and the interests and needs of the local population, and with greater sensitivity towards the context in which the peacebuilding is taking place (Ramsbotham, Woodhouse, and Miall 2016: 267). Lederach has come to be a fierce advocate for the 'local' in peacebuilding. For example, he states that peacebuilding "[...] must face and adapt to the realities and dilemmas posed by the very nature of these conflicts" (Lederach 1997: 147). Furthermore, Lederarch (1997: 84) states that processes of mending relationships must be rooted in the conflict setting itself, in his words "[i]t must emerge creatively from the culture and context, but not be a slave of either".

The theoretical framework provides the analytical foundation for the empirical data. In relation to McCoy's (2008) root causes and Lederach's (1997) vision for peace, the analysis explores the relevance of HIs in Uganda's past and future as discussed by the interviewees. Furthermore, the aspect of local ownership of the peace process is closely related to Lederach's three Tracks. On the one hand, it explores criticism towards top-down approaches to peacebuilding as recognised by the interviewees. On the other hand, it discusses the similarities and differences in terms of their perspective on both the conflict and the peacebuilding process, as highlighted by Track II and III peacebuilding actors, to understand how a combination of perspectives could improve the peacebuilding approaches.

The relational aspect of the CT theory is integral to this analysis as it is suggested that the continuation of HIs in Uganda's history and their prevalence in Uganda today, is attributed to broken and hostile relations based on tribal animosity. The poor relationships have manifested themselves in the structure of the Ugandan society. Thus, to understand the

peacebuilding process and the potential for building sustainable peace in Uganda, understanding the relations upon which the risk of conflict resides is crucial to this study. Finally, the three Tracks of peacebuilding provide the analytical tool for exploring the potential of different peacebuilding actors and their ability to either facilitate or obstruct the development of the peacebuilding process.

Background

Uganda is a landlocked country in Eastern Africa. With a population of 40.9 million people ('Uganda — The World Factbook' 2019). The largest ethnic group is the Bagandan tribe located largely at the centre of the country and stands for 16.5% of the population. The Acholi tribe is the 8th largest tribe at 4.4% of the population (Ibid.). The 10 largest tribes make up just under 70% of the population, and smaller tribes make up the restoring 30% (Ibid.), suggesting a wide number of small tribes making up the Ugandan demographic. Furthermore, many tribes speak their own language, although English is the official language and is taught in school (Ibid.).

A history of HIs in Uganda stretches far beyond the current regime, which came to power in 1986. HIs have been present in Ugandan since before its colonised days. However, they were greatly exacerbated and exploited during the colonisation as the British rulers adopted "divide and rule" policies effectively splitting the country into different regions to maximise economic gain and ensure political control (Allen and Vlassenroot 2010: 6; Otunnu 2002: 11-2). As a result of a cooperative South, dominated by Baganda Kingdom and the Bantu speaking population they were awarded with the administrative branch of the protectorate, universities, and infrastructural development. From this, stereotypes of the south as useful, productive and of great competence was born (Lomo and Hovil 2004: 18). The northern tribes on the other hand were branded as unruly and brutal, unfit for political administration (Branch 2010: 31). The tribal stereotypes and hostilities that were exacerbated during the colonial period continued after independence in 1962.

The Northern Conflict

Since 1962, Uganda has seen several shifts in power between different tribal groups and geographical regions. Such changes have not only been accomplished through violent force, but their reigns have been tainted by severe atrocities, grave human rights violations and widespread impunity. All of this has accumulated into a country and people fearing and mistrusting one another (Lomo and Hovil 2004: 15). Furthermore, as politics were organised along tribal and regional lines, controlling the political branch was perceived as the only way

to ensure the protection of the group one belonged to, which resulted in the mentality that attaining and maintaining political power at all costs was essential (Ibid.: 17).

The Northern conflict began in 1986 and started as a rebellion against the south and south-west dominated government, which was perceived as a threat to the security of the Acholi tribe (Lomo and Hovil 2004: 10). The Agreement on Comprehensive Solutions between the Government of the Republic of Uganda and the LRA was signed in 2007 ('Agreement on Comprehensive Solutions' 2007). However, the infamous LRA leader, Kony, was not present during its signing and the LRA was never dissolved or completely defeated and they still remain active in neighbouring countries ('History: The Lord's Resistance Army Conflict' 2015).

For a long time, the northern conflict was considered just that, a northern conflict. The national rifts that had decades in the making, left the Acholi sub-region on their own as the LRA, also predominately Acholi, were allowed to roam free without any intervention by the state as the government painted the conflict an 'Acholi issue' rather than a national issue (Branch 2010: 39). Branch (2010: 43) argued that such unwillingness was "[d]eriving from the lack of [Acholi] national political elite, the exclusion of legitimate Acholi representatives from the government, the repression of Acholi opposition leadership, and the failure of the Acholi diaspora to engage meaningfully in Ugandan politics". Thus, putting great emphasis on the impact of major HIs in the political arena on the conduct and attitudes towards the conflict.

In 2007, when the Agreement on Comprehensive Solutions was signed between the Government of Uganda and representation from the LRA, the emphasis on addressing the HIs that were engrained into the very societal structures of the country received significant attention. The Agreement was, however, characterised with vague commitments and unclear specifics, goals and implementation alike ('Agreement on Comprehensive Solutions' 2007). Shortly after, the Peace, Recovery and Development Plan (PRDP) of Northern Uganda was outlined. The plan promised several new initiatives, including security, road accessibility, access to water, sanitation, education and healthcare services, micro-financing initiatives to create economic development and opportunity, industrialisation, and reintegration with a particular focus on Northern Uganda (Republic of Uganda 2007: 19). The PRDP suggested a commitment by the government, which had not been witnessed previously. However, as will be discussed in the analysis, based on statements by the interviewees, the PRDP was not the promise-land it had potential to become.

Results and analysis

The analysis starts by exploring HIs as the root cause of the conflict and the continued presence of such inequalities in the country. Secondly, the vision for peace is outlined, after which a debate on the local as part of the peace process is discussed. Thereafter, the relational structures in Uganda and their impact on the peacebuilding is explored, and finally, the three Tracks of peacebuilding actors, as proposed by the CT theory, are analysed in terms of their impact on the process of building peace in Uganda.

Root Causes of the Conflict

A number of organisations have recognised the longevity of HIs in Uganda's history dating back prior to the Northern conflict. However, HIs along regional and tribal dimensions were also recognised as the leading root cause of the Northern conflict by the majority of the organisations, with INGOs somewhat more prone to name it a root cause compared to their NGO counterparts (interviews C 2019; D 2019; F 2019; G 2019; H 2019; I 2019; K 2019). It was argued that the Northern region experienced major social and economic inequality, as a consequence of political HIs (interviews J 2019: K 2019: A 2019). This had resulted in the Northern region being less developed than other regions; with its population having less access to services and were discriminated in terms of resource allocation (interviews G 2019; H 2019; I 2019; K 2019), which was recognised as an underlying factor for the conflict erupting.

McCoy (2008: 107) suggests that to maintain a sustainable and long-term peace, addressing the root causes of the conflict is crucial to the success and validity of the peace process. In the Ugandan context, the HIs were attributed to salient group dynamics resulting in development and resource allocation being distributed along tribal lines. The inequality and grievances that the north experienced reinforced already existing mistrust and hostile perceptions towards the tribal group now dominating the government. One organisation stated that a root cause of the conflict was that "[...] people in this [northern] region felt abandoned by the central government" (interview F 2019). The discrimination and sense of abandonment of the north by the south-western dominated government was said to fuel and exacerbate existing tribal hostilities which laid the foundation for the two decade long war that followed (interviews F 2019; D 2019; J 2019).

The HIs in Uganda were discussed primarily in terms of service delivery and to a large extent in terms of economic disparities (interview A 2019). Both poverty and unemployment were acknowledged, leaving the north unstable and lagging behind other regions of Uganda,

which gave, particularly young men, incentives to take up arms (interviews C 2019; J 2019). The economic issues were in part highlighted in their isolation i.e. without a deeper, structural issue and without an aspect of differences depending on group belonging or geographical location, but in other cases it was attributed to the North being particularly disadvantaged compared to others. In general, NGOs were less likely to attribute the root cause of the conflict to HIs and focused on the grievances of the population as opposed to a structural issue beyond such realities. INGOs almost exclusively stated HIs as the root cause of the problem, often even as the sole cause of it pointing to political impact and tribal rivalry for the inequality experienced in the Acholi sub-region (interviews E 2019; B 2019; A 2019).

The relative division between the two groups of organisations on the root causes is a strong indication that the activities and perspectives that Lederach assigned the two Tracks (II and III) in his CT theory aligns with the reality of Uganda. Lederach suggested that Track II peacebuilding actors, including INGOs, possess a structural understanding of the deeper issues in a conflict- and peace-setting (Lederach 1997: 60-1). Such understanding and perspective of the situation has arguably been acquired by their somewhat removed position from the immediate activities on the ground due to their place between the top-level leadership and the grassroots levels. In contrast, NGOs whose mandate at large involve direct service delivery and are deeply engaged with the local population and the victims of the conflict, held a perspective of the root causes much closer to the affected individuals and communities they engage with – similar to the observation of Lederach (1997: 42, 52-3). In other words, the local NGOs focused on the immediate situation of the Northern region, while the INGOs highlighted the comparison between regions thus, emphasising not only the visible grievances of the north, but did so in relation to other regions, i.e. recognising HIs.

Furthermore, it was claimed by the organisations, regardless of status or the root causes they named, that the root causes of the conflict remain still today. It was said that the government has been absent and unwilling to engage in the peacebuilding process, and it was argued that it was civil society that has been pulling the weight in terms of developing the region. For example, creating economic opportunities and addressing the lack of service delivery was among the most common activities and initiatives that had been taking place among the organisations (interviews A 2019; D 2019; C 2019; H 2019; G 2019; B 2019), yet, despite all the initiatives, the issues remain. Without undermining the activities and initiatives taken by the various organisations, as well as, acknowledging that peacebuilding is a complex process and the root causes of the conflict are deeply engrained into the Ugandan society, the longevity of HIs could point to either an inability or lack of capacity to solve them. This is not

intended as a critique towards individual actors engaged in the peacebuilding process, but instead a recognition that HIs remains, in theory and practice, still relatively new in the field of peacebuilding. As stated, traditional peacebuilding, the favoured approaches for a long time in peacebuilding work, has overlooked HIs in their efforts to create peace. As such, it is possible that HIs have remained in Uganda, as limited approaches aimed specifically at correcting them have been included in the peace efforts.

Vision for peace

"[...] we must respond to immediate crises in a manner that is informed by a longer-term vision. Our capacity to respond to the short-term agenda is more fully developed than is our capacity to take a longer-term view and see distant goals strategically reflected in our short-term action. This is especially important in dealing with protracted conflicts fuelled by perceptions dating back generations."

(Lederach 1997: 78)

The long-term vision for peace was spread and overall rarely reflected the root causes of the conflict, despite HIs being recognised as a major underlying issue with long presence in Uganda. Only two INGOs specified HIs in terms of development as part of their vision for peace by emphasising that as long as regional inequalities exist, peace will remain undermined and unstable (interviews F 2019; G 2019). This view supports the literature on HIs and conflict, which suggests that HIs will always increase the likelihood of conflict (Stewart 2000) and thus, there may always be a threat to the sustainable peace if left unaddressed. Despite the general recognition of its impact on the Ugandan society, the focus and vision for peace was found elsewhere.

Although economic opportunity and poverty eradication was emphasised, this was, similarly to other issues highlighted as part of the vision for peace, in relation to the consequences of the conflict. As opposed to the two INGOs which recognised the need to address HIs in this vision, the economic aspect was often highlighted in terms of correcting the consequences following the war. This could potentially be problematic and undermine the peace efforts. Similar to the critique against traditional peacebuilding approaches, in the context of HIs, efforts and long-term visions concerning economic disparities without acknowledging how and why they exist, could end up overlooking the structural dimension and as a result, the underlying issues could go unaddressed and never truly disappear.

Instead, the vision for peace had a stronger focus on justice, compensation and reparations through a transitional justice (TJ) policy. This was a prominent issue on the basis that it obstructed the peace process and denied those affected by the conflict the ability to reconcile with the past and move on (interviews K 2019; F 2019; B 2019; E 2019). Stressing the issue of justice was both in terms of ending impunity for perpetrators of violence, but also to ensure that victims and the northern population were compensated adequately for their losses in terms of land, cattle and livelihood. The focus on justice was in regard to correcting and addressing the consequences of the conflict. The reluctance of the Ugandan government to authorise the legal procedures, despite calls from civil society and the public, was perceived to be due to its desire to protect itself (interviews J 2019; K 2019). It was widely recognised that atrocities took place in the hands of both sides during the conflict, yet only the LRA was investigated by the ICC (interview J 2019). The lack of a TJ policy was considered a major obstacle to peace as the reluctance to compensate the victims for their losses contributed to a frustration among the population towards the government which reinforced the perceptions of abandonment and inequality which had been a root cause of the conflict (interview B 2019).

Overall, the vision for peace was primarily concerned with issues on the 'surface' and consequences of the conflict, rather than on correcting the issues that had resulted in the conflict, or the issues at hand, to begin with. Furthermore, on many occasions, there was no concrete vision for the peace, and although there was, between some of the organisations, an agreement in terms of justice and TJ policy, a united vision for peace towards which all organisations were working, was missing. As argued by Lederach (1997: 78), the long-term vision is particularly important in protracted conflicts that are fuelled by perceptions that date decades back. This very much applies to the context in Uganda and although Lederach is a prominent peace researcher, his word is by no means law. However, it does pose the question as to how effective the peace processes can be without a clear vision of where it is going, and preferably it ought to be shared among the actors involved in the peacebuilding efforts to ensure that their efforts and resources are utilised as effectively as possible.

Local Peacebuilding

The following section will discuss the concept of local peacebuilding, also known as bottom-up approaches to peace. The analysis will briefly engage in two different aspects of the debate; (1) the criticism of top-down peacebuilding, and (2) the differences in perspectives between the NGOs and the INGOs and the problematics around completely relying on the perspectives of the grassroots levels.

The top-level leadership in Uganda was primarily criticised for its unwillingness to engage in the peace process, and the initiatives that have been taken were largely criticised for being disconnected from the needs of the affected population (interviews D 2019; B 2019; G 2019; J 2019). The support for bottom-up approaches stems from the idea of local ownership in which the peacebuilding efforts reflect the needs of the masses. Furthermore, there is a focus on context sensitivity as the post-conflict reconstruction is based on the considerations of local traditions and the culture in which the peace process is taking place (Lederach 1997: 52-3). The knowledge to build a sustainable peace is thus, thought to be acquired through engaging with the grassroots levels that live in, and experience, the realities of the peacebuilding context.

The main claims about the PRDP developed by the state, was that it was primarily focused on building infrastructure and strengthening the institutions in the region (interviews G 2019; J 2019; D 2019). One organisation did emphasise the immediate need for such initiatives, and recognised that actions had been taken in terms of building transport infrastructure, strengthening weak institutions, and the promotion of good governance on local and regional level (interview I 2019). However, such initiatives, it was generally stated, did not reflect the needs of the people, and the perception was that no efforts were being taken to develop the region (interviews G 2019; F 2019; D 2019). Alternatively, it was argued that statebuilding approaches aimed at rebuilding and strengthening institutions were largely perceived as having little to no impact on the lives of the Acholi sub-region (interviews G 2019; J 2019).

The perceived failure to address the grievances of the population resulted in a number of organisations calling for bottom-up approaches to the peacebuilding process (interviews F 2019; J 2019; K 2019). The initiatives of the top-level has, as stated, primarily been statebuilding approaches, seasoned and go-to approaches to peacebuilding, however its impact, according to civil society, has been meagre. Despite clear disappointment and frustration towards the government's actions, or inactions, there were also calls among organisations that the state ought to engage more in macro-level initiatives, and economic and social infrastructure (interviews G 2019; F 2019). There are thus conflicting statements in terms of statebuilding and infrastructure initiatives; (1) initiatives are being taken but do not reflect the needs of the people and are perceived as not benefitting the population, and (2) more statebuilding initiatives are needed as current ones are insufficient.

Similar to the critique against the PRDP, government funded livelihood programmes were criticised for not reaching the intended beneficiaries. The main issue was attributed to the application process of the programs, which meant that parts of the affected population for which

it was intended were unable to receive benefits. This was credited to the fact that the information of their existence was not common knowledge, and the lack of schooling as a consequence of the conflict or other circumstances, left intended beneficiaries illiterate and unable to complete the application form (interviews D 2019; B 2019). This is another aspect in which engaging with the grassroots levels and the intended beneficiaries can greatly impact and improve the implementation of the initiatives. By giving the grassroots level greater ownership over the peacebuilding process, initiatives would not only address the needs of the people, but the implementation would be adapted to the realities of those it seeks to reach. Furthermore, greater inclusion could result in improved perception of the peacebuilding process and the actors involved, and thus, both objective and subjective HIs could be improved.

The NGOs primarily focused on issues arising following the conflict. A strong emphasis was put on psychosocial support, livelihood programs, intra-communal conflict resolution with an emphasis on land conflict, increasing access to services such as, healthcare and education, and gender issues, including gender based violence (GBV) and the empowerment of women (interviews A 2019; B 2019; C 2019; D 2019; E 2019). Such initiatives reflect the approaches assigned to the grassroots levels by Lederach in his CT theory, which suggests that Track III initiatives are aimed at addressing the immediate needs of the population, and through their initiatives, they reach more people than any other level. (Lederach 1997: 39, 52). The NGOs are positioned close to the context in which they are active and get an insight into the grievances of the beneficiaries they engage with. Addressing the most immediate needs were considered a vital part of the peace process, because if left unaddressed they complicate other aspects of the process. One organisation, referring to poverty and the need for livelihood programmes, stated that: "you need to heal, but you cannot heal when you are hungry" (interview A 2019).

International organisations recognised similar immediate issues, however, they were more likely (although not alone), to acknowledge the structural aspects creating them. Particularly a focus on regional inequalities as a result of political involvement was recognised. It was claimed that the Acholi sub-region was lagging behind other parts of the country, especially in terms of socioeconomic issues such as, higher levels of poverty, access to services, infrastructure, and allocation of resources and investment (interviews H 2019; G 2019; I 2019; D 2019; C 2019). This was attributed to discrimination in the national budget where the North was supposedly not 'getting its share of the national cake' (interview J 2019) as a result of tribal politics.

The contribution of different perspectives, in this case the middle-range leadership through INGOs, provides an alternative understanding of the issues in Uganda. The perspective

of the local is, in its own right, vital for the affected population and could be essential to the survival of the people. However, that is not to say that the local is all-knowing. Many of the issues they are focusing on have a foundation in HIs. Although many of the local NGOs recognised the existence of HIs and its impact on the Ugandan society, it was, compared to INGOs, rarely a focal point. Recognising the different contributions and perspectives on the peacebuilding process could result in a greater variety of solutions. The different perspectives, NGOs being engaged with the grassroots and the INGOs primarily monitoring and observing the situation, supplies them with different sources of information. Although this study recognises the importance of building peace from below, it is necessary to note that including other actors should not have to entail ignoring the grassroots level, but instead providing supplementary knowledge.

Currently, approaches to address HIs, aside from top-level approaches, are very limited. This could in part explain why NGOs have such a strong emphasis on addressing the immediate issues as opposed to the underlying structures creating them; data and approaches are simply not available. Alternatively, it could be attributed to the limited reach and capacity that NGOs have, being donor dependent and often smaller in size. Taking on structural issues might thus, be outside of their capacities. However, in the case of Uganda, where NGOs and INGOs agree in terms of the structural issues that create many of the visible and immediate issues that the NGOs are addressing, bottom-up peacebuilding through middle-range actors, with more resources and greater insight into the structural complexities, could be an alternative. Again, however, the reality is, approaches available to address HIs from anything besides the top-level leadership, are at the moment, largely absent.

The Structure of Relational Dynamics

A central part of Lederach's CT theory is transforming underlying structures to change hostile relations into peaceful ones (1997). In the Ugandan context, broken relationships have fuelled and sustained HIs over a significant period of time and remain an underlying reason for many of the issues present today. The relational dynamics are organised along tribal and regional dimensions and relate heavily to identity, security, mistrust and inequality. It was broadly agreed that identity in Uganda lies with tribal identity. While the national Ugandan identity is present, it was either considered at par with, or substandard to, the tribal identity (interviews F 2019; G 2019; H 2019; C 2019; D 2019; J 2019; B 2019). Such dynamics has resulted in politics based on tribal loyalty and the impact of tribal politics was recognised as: "[e]very tribe wants

to rule, because when they rule, they are safe" (interview J 2019). Another organisation expressed the need for correcting tribal politics: "[t]he country has to go back to the drawing table and say 'politics is different from development,' [and] redesign the programs to benefit the entire society" (interview C 2019). Changing the salient and hostile group divisions, which have permeated several dimensions of the Ugandan society for many decades, is an intricate puzzle to solve.

As opposed to showing commitment to ending HIs and mending broken relationship, President Museveni has contributed to the reinforcement of tribal divisions. For example, the President has on national television expressed that he does *not* serve the country but is "working for himself and his family" (interview J 2019). Furthermore, he has declared that regions voting for the him will receive more benefits and greater access to services (interview H 2019). In countries with HIs, politics are often, as in the case of Uganda, organised along group identity (Stewart 2000: 257). Therefore, such statements, and particularly when enforced, are likely to result in even greater HIs as those most prone to vote for the President belong to the same tribe as him. It is precisely for such reasons that statebuilding and demands of multi-party democracy, without addressing the tendencies that such parties reflect and represent different tribal group, does little to improve on existing HIs.

Transforming and mending broken relationships has been significantly prioritised among particularly NGOs. With a focus on intra-communal mediation and conflict resolution, the NGOs have engaged heavily in correcting and improving the structures of mistrust and insecurity, on communal level, that resulted from the conflict. Theatre groups were used to produce an understanding and acknowledgment for the experiences of others affected by the conflict, including victims, perpetrators and internally displaced persons (IDPs). Recognising the 'other side', Lederach argues, is crucial for rebuilding dynamics and relationships, to ensure that reconciliation can take place and the cycle of violence and hate can end (Lederach 1997: 26). Considering the context of the Northern conflict, with the LRA being Acholi and attacking primarily Acholis, this was an important initiative. However, the conflict was not only an intracommunal conflict but was a civil war built on decades of mistrust and hostility on cross-regional and cross-tribal dimensions. Therefore, intra-communal mediation and dialogue is potentially insufficient to adequately address the underlying relational structures which are found, not on communal level, but on a national level between tribal groups.

There is a perception among the organisations that there is a growing frustration among the northern population and Acholis, suggesting a deterioration in terms of relational dynamics. The reinforcement of poor relations and frustration derives from the feeling of being neglected

and abandoned by the state. Part of the frustration is stemming from the conflict itself, mainly from the abducted youth taken by the rebels, which is often attributed to the unwillingness of the government to interfere in the conflict and, thus, allowed the continuation of the abductions (interview B 2019). Secondly, frustration derives from the government's current neglect of the north and its unwillingness to commit to the development and peacebuilding process (interviews F 2019; H 2019; J 2019; K 2019; A 2019; D 2019). The inequalities between the regions of Uganda, as the south and south-west reap the benefits of the President's favouritism, reinforces an 'us versus them' mentality in which hostile group identity thrives.

In the Ghanaian case, numerous initiatives to develop the north and continuous efforts to acknowledge and celebrate group identities, while simultaneously promoting national unity, have contained subjective HIs, which could otherwise have become a mobilising force (Langer 2009). In contrast, as suggested by civil society in Uganda, there is an unwillingness within the top-level leadership to commit to unifying Uganda and ending inequality between tribes and regions. Instead it reinforces the tribal divisions and contributes to an ongoing process of aggravating relationships between parties with a history of violent response to political exclusion and grave discrimination.

When the state is unwilling to commit to the reduction of HIs, Stewart, Brown and Langer (2007: 20), suggest that civil society and international aid can supply financial support and initiatives earmarked for the deprived region(s), with a particular focus on service provision such as, health and education. Based on the interviews, this is currently what civil society in Uganda engages in. Furthermore, one organisation, with a focus on reconciliation, provided medical treatment from one central hospital in the Acholi sub-region to ensure that people from all tribes would meet and be treated side-by-side (interview D 2019). Two other organisations engaged in inter-tribal dialogue with youths aimed at creating a sense of equality and acceptance across tribes (interviews D 2019; H 2019). However, such programs remain largely sub-regional.

On a number of occasions it was said that those contributing the most to reducing hostile attitudes and stereotypes towards different tribal groups were those that since the conflict ended, had relocated to other regions (interviews C 2019; I 2019). Migration was said to contribute to diminishing old stereotypes of Acholis as aggressive, and second-class citizens not made for political or official work. This reinforces the important aspect of 'encounters' to reconcile and transform hostile relations and structures (Lederach 1997: 26). This could also suggest that the 'integrationist' approach discussed previously, in terms of peacebuilding and HIs, could prove important to the peacebuilding process in Uganda.

However, broken relationships and the threat of conflict erupting is likely to remain as long as the state continues to create and reinforce inter-group hostilities. As long as the perception is that the government is neglecting the north, there is a continuous threat that frustration and subjective HIs could become a mobilising factor in Uganda. Because many of the potential sources for instability are grounded in political exclusion and neglect by the government, it is possible that the power to put an end to these instabilities are in the hands of those in political power. The severity of the poor relational structures and the frustration was clearly demonstrated by four organisations referring to the Ugandan situation as a 'time-bomb' (interviews K 2019; J 2019; F 2019; D 2019), with it only being a matter of time before large-scale violence returns. This is a testament to how crucial it is to address the HIs during the peacebuilding process.

Tracks of Peacebuilding

There is a strong inter-connection between the relational structures in Uganda and the efforts towards peacebuilding and HIs among the actors involved. The approaches of the three Tracks of peacebuilding actors in Uganda are seemingly in accordance with the CT theory; Track I engaged in the initial conflict resolution stage, Track II has taken on a monitoring and observational role, as well as, addressing immediate issues visible in the society, and Track III has had a prominent focus on providing service delivery and addressing the basic needs of the affected population. However, throughout the analysis, it is apparent that that the influence and impact that the various actors have on the peacebuilding process is not aligned with the suggestions proposed by Lederach, and a number of issues have become apparent in relation to current peacebuilding approaches and HIs in Uganda.

Track I actors are said to represent a small part of the population compared to Track II and III (Lederach 1997: 38). It is suggested that the decisions on grassroots level have greater impact on the day-to-day lives of the masses compared to that of top-level leadership decisions (Ibid.: 43). That said, it is recognised that the higher the level, the greater capacity to affect the entire population (Ibid.). Despite this, approaches by Track I actors are largely limited to the initial stages of the peacebuilding process, thus, overlooking its potential impact as the peace process continues. As previously stated, it is suggested that the political dimension, centralised within the state, holds significant power over both the economic and social dimensions of HIs (Stewart 2000: 248). In the Ugandan context, the power of the political level to increase and deepen tribal and regional inequalities is apparent. As such, by reducing the impact and approaches to the initial peace settlements, Lederach (1997) greatly undermines the potential

in aiding, but potentially even worse, underestimates how the top-level leadership can obstruct the peacebuilding process.

Currently, research on peacebuilding approaches aimed at addressing HIs generally presumes the cooperation and commitment of the top-level leadership to introduce policies and take initiatives aimed at reducing HIs and addressing the grievances of the unprivileged group(s). This is centred around the direct, indirect and integrationist initiatives highlighted by Stewart, Brown and Langer (2007). However, beyond briefly stating that civil society and international aid can allocate resources and efforts into the disadvantaged areas, the study depends on the cooperation of the state. This is greatly problematic as demonstrated in the case of Uganda.

Throughout the interviews, the unwillingness of the government to commit to the development and peacebuilding process in Northern Uganda was a reoccurring issue. The absence of a TJ policy was only one example of this, and was accredited to the government protecting itself from being held accountable for the atrocities and human rights abuses it had conducted during the war (interviews B 2019; J 2019; K 2019). In terms of HIs, this is problematic as it feeds into the already existing hostile group divisions as the government once again displays a reluctance to counter to the northern population and its needs. Furthermore, in relation to the Tracks, this is an example of the top-level leadership obstructing what is considered vital to the peacebuilding process according to civil society and the masses (based on information gathered by the interviewees).

As opposed to previous literature, which assumes the cooperation of the top-level leadership (Lederach 1997: 39, 45; Stewart, Brown and Langer 2007), the situation in Uganda thereby, demonstrates a completely different reality. The reluctance to create a TJ policy shows a government more eager to maintain its position in power than aiding the peacebuilding process by pursuing justice for its people. Furthermore, by refusing to implement a TJ policy, the government is increasing the rifts that already exist by fuelling the frustration and sense of abandonment that resides in the region towards the central state. Additionally, it is not only the government that enjoys impunity; on a local level perpetrators and victims are living side by side. Though civil society is engaging in communal reconciliation and conflict resolution, in the absence of legal procedures, justice may never truly be served. This poses a risk of never fully mending the broken relationships within communities, nor allowing inter-communal hostilities to be addressed.

The unwillingness of Track I actors to commit to the peacebuilding process is, in the case of Uganda, explained through political HIs. The mutually reinforcing nature of political

HIs and socioeconomic HIs – based on the reluctance to engage in peacebuilding efforts, was attributed to excluding politics: "[t]here is a lack of voice from people within the northern region. Because not so many of them qualify to be in the upper rounds, so they cannot come out and speak [...] when resources are being budgeted" (interview J 2019). The inaccessibility to the 'upper rounds' was in other words attributed to a lack of education and overall poor standard of life (interviews J 2019: K 2019: A 2019). It thereby, becomes clear that the lack of socioeconomic opportunities, such as education and income generating activities, results in low development in terms of human capacity compared to other regions. This, in turn makes accessing the political arena and decision-making processes difficult, which once again, reinforces the lack of development in the region as little resources are allocated to develop the region. The clear aspect of political HIs impacting on development strongly confirms the notion that the political dimension holds significant power over socioeconomic HIs (Hillesund 2019: 531) and whether they are exacerbated or reduced based on the political control over the distribution of resources. Furthermore, it suggests that in countries of severe imbalances in the political arena, Track I actors become even more influential and impactful during the peacebuilding process, compared to countries where politics do not hold the same power over the levels of socioeconomic standards.

As mentioned, in the rare cases in which alternative approaches to addressing HIs in peace processes are recognised, civil society and international aid is highlighted. In Uganda, civil society is to be, according to the interviewees, credited for the existing initiatives and results that have taken place. One organisation went so far as to claim that civil society has done "everything but collecting taxes" (interview G 2019). The same organisation expressed that: "NGOs have established and run health centres, supported the building of roads, nearly everything, they have tried to support communities in resolving land conflicts. The trouble is, for NGOs those are micro-initiatives – micro-initiatives are only effective when they are anchored from macro-initiatives" (Ibid.). Examples of the macro-initiatives they wished to see included the provision of a prosperous business environment, well-functioning public transport, electricity for industrial use, infrastructure and a road network. This, they suggested, was supposed to be provided by the government of Uganda, however, it was stated that they had instead engaged in micro-initiatives as a result of an unrefined action-plan (Ibid.).

Despite grand efforts by civil society, HIs, frustration and negative perceptions linger, and the threat of a new conflict prevails. This begs the question-- is it that civil society is incapable of addressing such a largescale issue as HIs in peacebuilding and are thus dependent on Track I actors to successfully reduce their prevalence and thwart the threat of conflict

erupting? Or, is it that current approaches to addressing peacebuilding generally neglect HIs, and thus provides civil society with insufficient and inefficient methods to addressing them? Based on this research, I argue that while Track I actors are immensely important, and depending on the context, may prove integral to reducing the likelihood of conflict based on HIs. However, it must also be recognised that the current lack of data results in an absence in knowledge which could produce alternative solutions that work around the current dependency on top-level leadership.

Two INGOs have announced projects aimed at mapping HIs in Uganda. Both the projects were in their initial stages and were aimed at identifying HIs in the region and the country (interviews G 2019; J 2019). Through such initiatives, the potential to discover alternative routes for addressing HIs could be found. The current absence of information mapping HIs supports the previous notion that civil society (and the entire peacebuilding process as a whole) is not supplied with knowledge and approaches aimed at addressing HIs. The lack of data is not an issue isolated to the case of Uganda, but is a considerable issue in peacebuilding (Stewart 2006: 7). Compared to VIs for which numerous indexes and measuring tools are available (Fragile States Index n.d.; 'Human Development Index' n.d.; The World Bank 2018; 'Global Peace Index and Positive Peace' n.d.), the glaringly clear lack of data on HIs speaks volumes about how much work there is to be done in this field. Thus, initiatives to map such inequalities could provide a clearer indication to where and what kind of HIs exist, which could in turn contribute to producing more effective initiatives aimed at addressing them. The current lack of information on how and where HIs are manifested in Uganda could explain the critique against the PRDP for being scanty, unfocused and failing to produce results. By mapping the HIs clearer, directives for the type of initiatives that need to be taken can be developed. Though this does not solve the issue of the unwillingness of the top-level leadership to commit to the reduction of HIs, it could provide civil society with much needed knowledge on how to improve their approaches to ensure that their work create a difference.

Conclusion

This research has shown that there is clear awareness among both NGOs and INGOs in terms of HIs impacting the Ugandan society and its violent history. However, the priority of addressing such issues during the peacebuilding process is much more complex than the recognition of their existence. In accordance with Lederach (1997), it was found that the local NGOs had a clear communal focus on their peacebuilding efforts. This included intracommunal conflict resolution and service provision aimed at attending to the immediate needs

of the affected population to minimise the grievances of the region. Although their initiatives were mainly concerned with consequences of the conflict, the grievances can quickly and easily be attributed to the discrimination and neglect of the northern region as a result of HIs. As such, the initiatives of the NGOs can be understood as minimising the existence of HIs. However, it was apparent that initiatives aimed at addressing such grievances were rarely attributed to HIs. In other words, *symptoms* such as, unemployment and the lack of access to services were greatly prioritised. However, the structural dimension that created the regional/tribal inequalities and grievances received limited attention beyond the recognition of their existence and problematic nature. This relatively narrow focus overlooking the underlying issues, despite being clearly aware of them, is argued to be attributed to the direct engagement with the affected population. This is thought that have resulted in a perspective and priorities closer to the everyday reality of the individual, as opposed to the overarching perspective on a structural level.

The international organisations had a strong emphasis on, and were constantly returning to, the issue of HIs. This is likely attributed to their mandate focused on monitoring and observing the situation in Uganda, providing them with a structural understanding of the circumstances, similar to that suggested by Lederach (1997). While not as given as for the NGOs, the INGOs did also engage directly with the affected population. Additionally, two international organisations had committed to investigating and mapping the nature of HIs in Uganda. Such initiatives have the potential to increase the recognition and attention of HIs in the peacebuilding process, an area which is currently severely understudied and under-recorded. The initiatives by the INGOs will hopefully supply the various peacebuilding actors with knowledge contributing to the development of approaches in terms of how to reduce their existence. As has been recognised in this thesis, ethnic conflicts and the prevalence of HIs are frequent features of contemporary violent conflicts, despite this, it was found that approaches to address such issues are very limited. Therefore, initiatives like those taken by the two INGOs are considered particularly important.

This research has found that the projects implemented by the civil society have addressed the direct needs of the people, by providing schooling, healthcare, psychosocial support, livelihood projects and so on. However, their current initiatives remain intracommunal, while the underlying structural issues of HIs are found on a cross-communal level. Based on the findings of this research, it is suggested that local initiatives, albeit vital to the peacebuilding process, currently lack the capacity to sufficiently address the deep-rooted HIs. Lederach points to Track II actors to influence the peacebuilding process, however, while possessing a greater insight into the structural dimension of the society, according to this

research, Track II actors are also hindered by Track I actors in their peacebuilding efforts to addressing HIs.

Beyond the own initiatives and projects implemented by civil society, it was clear that they were calling for greater responsibility and initiatives to be taken by the government in reducing regional disparities to contain the hostilities, bitterness and frustration created by HIs. The negative attitudes towards the government was connected to a sense of abandonment and neglect, which was said to be interlinked with HIs, the main root cause of the LRA war, as well as, a lingering and major issue during the peacebuilding process. It was suggested that peacebuilding initiatives by the top-level leadership in Uganda have been known for their lack of commitment, poor implementation and for being removed from the needs of the intended beneficiaries. This was at large attributed to broken tribal relationships resulting in the reluctance to prioritise the north. This was all said to reinforce 'us versus them' narratives by persistently differentiating between regions and tribes; significant issues which continue to create and reinforce major tensions in the country. In accordance with Lederach, it is, therefore, fair to assume that correcting and mending the broken relationships between tribes, on which the HIs and consequently hostilities are founded, is integral to the peacebuilding process.

This research argues that in the Ugandan case, there is a significant need for addressing the relational structures upon which the society is built. As previously argued, this is attributed to the fact that broken relationships, built on layers of mistrust and animosity resulting in patrimonial politics, are at the heart of HIs. Therefore, this study suggests that to reduce the likelihood of violent conflict returning, a transformation of the relational dynamics currently cultivating HIs, must be addressed during the peacebuilding process. However, presently, many peacebuilding efforts in Uganda, based on the empirical data, are not addressing or targeting the inter-communal issues where the basis for HIs are found. These findings have resulted in asking whether such tendencies are the result of a limited capacity of the civil society to engage in largescale inter-communal activities; or, whether the lacking access to both information and alternative approaches to addressing HIs in peacebuilding is at fault?

In accordance with Lederach (1997), this study concludes that local peacebuilding is essential to the peace process in Uganda. This is attributed to the major sources of frustration among the northern population as a result of the lack of local ownership and the detachment from the local realities of the population, which have characterised the top-down peacebuilding initiatives. In the absence of the civil society, the grievances of the northern population could be left unattended to, which could increase the likelihood of mobilisation and ultimately the reoccurrence of violent conflict. However, it has also been argued that the grassroots initiatives

on their own would prove insufficient to address the underlying structures preserving HIs. It has therefore, been suggested that the two different perspectives provided by the civil society can together enhance the peacebuilding process. The activities of the local organisations are of great importance to meet the immediate needs of the population. However, the nature of the conflict, built on HIs as a consequence of hostile and broken tribal relations, means that the deeper and structural focus provided by the INGOs is integral for addressing the underlying issues that have resulted in the grievances in northern Uganda. As such, the result of this study suggests that local peacebuilding, while in many ways crucial for peace, is not a clear-cut solution to the many complexities in Uganda.

Based on the findings, it is suggested that in societies such as, Uganda, with major imbalances in the political sphere, the top-level leadership holds significant control and power over the allocation of resources, and this in turn impacts the prevalence of socioeconomic HIs. Therefore, this research argues that Track I actors in societies with HIs, have considerable impact on the course of the peacebuilding process. This opposes what is suggested by previous research where its impact has primarily been limited to the initial peace efforts. The influence of Track I peacebuilding actors in the context of political HIs, has been exemplified by the central role held by the Ugandan government in reinforcing broken relationships and tribal inequalities. The poor relational structures in Uganda have been recognised as central to the existing disparities of the northern region as imbalances in political power controls much of the prevalence of socioeconomic HIs. This poses the question—to what extent can the civil society in Uganda, assuming continued unwillingness of the government to commit to the peacebuilding process, mend inter-tribal relations and reduce HIs in their peacebuilding efforts?

Although it is recognised that the top-level leadership has significant impact on the peacebuilding process, this research also argues that it is highly problematic that previous research concerned with approaches towards reducing HIs in peacebuilding are almost exclusively limited to policy-making through Track I actors. This because it assumes that the people in power *want* to reduce HIs. However, in the context of Uganda, with a history where political change through violent coups has become normalised, and attaining political power is to ensure the security and prosperity of *one's own* tribal group, sharing political power is a foreign concept. Such tendencies, i.e. ruling for the benefit of a particular group, suggest that political HIs has major impact on the existence of socioeconomic HIs. As already argued, this leaves the political level with major impact on whether the HIs are addressed and reduced or reinforced and rising. As such, when approaches for addressing HIs in the peacebuilding process depend on power-sharing and cooperation, or at the very least, a government willing to

share its resources, their likelihood to reduce HIs are minimal. This links directly to the main pitfall of Lederach's theory, which greatly underestimates the role of Track I actors during the peacebuilding period. As opposed to the role assigned by Lederach, which is restricted to the conflict resolution stage, the case of Uganda suggests that Track I peacebuilding actors can have major influence on the peace efforts as they can either support or obstruct the efforts made on other levels. However, this does not entail that solutions to HIs should be directed to the top-level leadership alone. There is a potential danger in limiting the approaches to address HIs in peacebuilding to those depending on the willingness of the state. Instead, while recognising the significant role of Track I actors, greater attention ought to be given to alternative approaches to avoid countries from being paralysed by a reluctant state.

Having studied the role of HIs through the perspective of civil society, a number of gaps in the literature were recognised. As a relatively unexplored area of research, there is both a need and room for many studies to follow. One aspect is to engage more with the grassroots levels, with a particular focus on the affected population to explore subjective HIs in greater detail and a particularly interesting study would be to explore how they relate to objective HIs. This, to gain greater understanding for what perpetuates negative perceptions during peacebuilding, particularly in cases where it would be found that subjective HIs do not reflect the objective HIs.

Additionally, the lack of data on HIs is an issue much overdue to address. This is a gap not only in terms of individual studies, but it is an area of research which deserves attention from big indexes and data banks similar to those focusing on VIs such as, the Human Development Index, Global Peace Index and World Bank Data Bank. Without such measurements, HIs are immediately at risk of being overlooked in peace processes, which means that peacebuilding actors may be unaware of issues that are threatening peace, or how to address them. Conducting largescale data collection would give HIs greater recognition, which could in turn help tackle current tendencies to neglect and overlook them in peacebuilding. It could also provide practitioners and scholars with important data, and thus, allow them and enable them to develop tools for approaching the complexities of HIs.

The lack of research and data on HIs connects to a third area of interest for future research, that of expanding the approaches for addressing HIs beyond that of Track I initiatives. While recognising that Track I actors have major influence on the peacebuilding process, particularly when HIs are involved, the glaringly clear lack of alternative approaches leaves civil society with insufficient and ineffective tools and approaches to adequately address the complex issues of HIs. Finding alternative methods is crucial as, in the case of Uganda, HIs

have thoroughly manifested themselves in the relational structures upon which the society is built. By removing the dependency on the top-level leadership to commit and take action to reduce HIs, the possibility of solving the issues increases immensely.

On a final note, it is apparent that the civil society recognises the threat of HIs to the peace process in Uganda. However, beyond primarily observing the situation and addressing the communal grievances attributed at large to HIs, there are currently limited initiatives taken to address the deep-rooted structural issues upon which the inequalities are created. It has been argued, as opposed to previous research by the likes of Lederach (1997), that Track I peacebuilding actors have significant influence on the peacebuilding process, particularly in a society like Uganda, in which HIs are deeply engrained as a consequence of hostile tribal relations. Overall, this research strongly emphasises the necessity to address the current lack of data on HIs. This, to develop alternative approaches, beyond that of top-level leadership policymaking, to empower and supply civil society with adequate tools for addressing HIs in their peace efforts. Without such initiatives, the neglect of HIs in peacebuilding processes are likely to continue. Alternatively, civil society will remain largely stranded without appropriate tools for addressing such a significant and complex obstacle to sustainable peace. Considering the rapidly increasing trend of ethnic conflicts over the past half-century, this research therefore, strongly argues that the area of HIs in peacebuilding ought to receive significantly more attention.

Bibliography

A. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.

'Agreement on Comprehensive Solutions'. 2007.

Allen, Tim, and Koen Vlassenroot. 2010. 'Introduction'. In *The Lord's Resistance Army: Myth and Reality*, by Adam Branch, Ronald R. Atkinson, Andrew Mwenda, Kristof Titeca, Sverker Finnström, Mareike Schomerus, Christopher Blattman, Jeannie Annan, Ben Mergelsberg, and Sandrine Perrot. London, UNITED KINGDOM: Zed Books.

B. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.

Bahn, Susanne, and Pamela Weatherill. 2013. 'Qualitative Social Research: A Risky Business When It Comes to Collecting "Sensitive" Data'. *Qualitative Research* 13 (1): 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112439016.

Branch, Adam. 2010. 'Exploring the Roots of LRA Violence: Political Crisis and Ethnic Politics in Acholiland'. In *The Lord's Resistance Army: Myth and Reality*, by Ronald R. Atkinson, Andrew Mwenda, Kristof Titeca, Sverker Finnström, Mareike Schomerus, Christopher Blattman, Jeannie Annan, Ben Mergelsberg, and Sandrine Perrot. London,

- UNITED KINGDOM: Zed Books. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/gu/detail.action?docID=579116.
- Brown, Graham K, and Arnim Langer. 2010. 'Horizontal Inequalities and Conflict: A Critical Review and Research Agenda'. *Conflict, Security and Development* 10 (1): 28–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/14678800903553837.
- Bryman, Alan. 2012. *Social Research Methods*. 4th ed. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- C. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- Cederman, Lars Erik, Nils B. Weidmann, and Nils Christian Bormann. 2015. 'Triangulating Horizontal Inequality: Toward Improved Conflict Analysis'. *Journal of Peace Research* 52 (6): 806–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315597969.
- Creswell, John, W. 2014. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Fourth edition, International student edition. Los Angeles, Calif.: SAGE.
- D. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- E. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- F. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- Fetherston, A. B. 2000. 'Peacekeeping, Conflict Resolution and Peacebuilding: A Reconsideration of Theoretical Frameworks'. *International Peacekeeping* 7 (1): 190–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/13533310008413825.
- Fjelde, Hanne, and Gudrun Østby. 2014. 'Socioeconomic Inequality and Communal Conflict: A Disaggregated Analysis of Sub-Saharan Africa, 1990–2008'. *International Interactions* 40 (5): 737–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2014.917373.
- Fragile States Index. n.d. 'Indicators | Fragile States Index'. Fragile States Index. Accessed 27 February 2019. http://fundforpeace.org/fsi/indicators/.
- G. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- 'Global Peace Index and Positive Peace'. n.d. Vision of Humanity. Accessed 28 April 2019. http://visionofhumanity.org/.
- H. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- Hillesund, Solveig. 2017. 'Choosing Whom to Target: Horizontal Inequality and the Risk of Civil and Communal Violence'. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002717734286.
- 'History: The Lord's Resistance Army Conflict'. 2015. Conciliation Resources. 2015. https://www.c-r.org/where-we-work/east-and-central-africa/history-lords-resistance-army-conflict.
- 'Human Development Index'. n.d. United Nations Development Programme. Accessed 28 April 2019. http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/human-development-index-hdi.
- I. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- J. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- K. 2019. Interview by Hanna Svenhag.
- Kvale, Steinar, and Svend Brinkmann. 2009. *InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing*. 2. ed. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Langer, Arnim. 2005. 'Horizontal Inequalities and Violent Group Mobilization in Côte d'Ivoire'. *Oxford Development Studies* 33 (1): 25–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600810500099634.
- ——. 2009. 'Living with Diversity: The Peaceful Management of Horizontal Inequalities in Ghana'. *Journal of International Development* 21 (4): 534–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1568.
- Langer, Arnim, Abdul Raufu Mustapha, and Frances Stewart. 2009. 'Diversity and Discord: Ethnicity, Horizontal Inequalities and Conflict in Ghana and Nigeria'. *Journal of International Development* 21 (4): 477–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1578.

- Langer, Arnim, and Frances Stewart. 2015. 'Regional Imbalances, Horizontal Inequalities, and Violent Conflicts: Insights from Four West African Countries'. 98900. Fragility, Conflict and Violence Group. World Bank.
- Lederach, John Paul. 1997. Building Peace_Sustainable Reconciliation in Divided Societies.

 Washington D.C.: United States Institute of Peace Press.

 https://www.scribd.com/doc/238946486/John-Paul-Lederach-Building-Peace-Sustainable-Reconciliation-in-Divided-Societies-United-States-Institute-of-Peace-1998
- Lilja, Jannie, and Kristine Höglund. 2018. 'The Role of the External in Local Peacebuilding: Enabling Action-Managing Risk'. *Global Governance* 24 (3): 411–430. https://doi.org/10.1163/19426720-02403007.
- Lomo, Zachary, and Lucy Hovil. 2004. *Behind the Violence. The War in Northern Uganda. ISS Monograph Series*. Pretoria: Pretoria: Institute for Security Studies.
- McCoy, D. 2008. 'Rectifying Horizontal Inequalities: Lessons from African Conflict'. *African Journal on Conflict Resolution* 8 (1): 105–34. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajcr.v8i1.39422.
- Mustapha, Abdul Raufu. 2009. 'Institutionalising Ethnic Representation: How Effective Is Affirmative Action in Nigeria?' *Journal of International Development* 21 (4): 561–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1573.
- Otunnu, Ogenga. 2002. 'Causes and Consequences of the War in Acholiland'. 11. ACCORD: An International Review of Peace Initiatives. London: Conciliation Resources.
- Paffenholz, Thania. 2014. 'International Peacebuilding Goes Local: Analysing Lederach's Conflict Transformation Theory and Its Ambivalent Encounter with 20 Years of Practice'. *Peacebuilding* 2 (1): 11–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/21647259.2013.783257.
- Pillow, Wanda. 2003. 'Confessions, Catharsis, or Cure? Rethinking the Uses of Reflexivity as Methodological Power in Qualitative Research'. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies* 16 (2): 175–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/0951839032000060635.
- Ramsbotham, Oliver, Tom Woodhouse, and Hugh Miall. 2016. *Contemporary Conflict Resolution*. Fourth edition. Cambridge; Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Republic of Uganda. 2007. 'Peace, Recovery and Development Plan for Northern Uganda'. Republic of Uganda.
- Rio, Sara del, and Jen Maman. 2018. 'The Business of War: How Weapons Manufactured in Europe Help Inflict Harm in the Rest of the World'. Greenpeace International. 2018. https://www.greenpeace.org/international/story/16452/the-business-of-war-how-weapons-manufactured-in-europe-help-inflict-harm-in-the-rest-of-the-world.
- Smoljan, Jelena. 2003. 'The Relationship between Peace Building and Development'. *Conflict, Security & Development* 3 (2): 233–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/1467880032000126930.
- Stewart, Frances. 2000. 'Crisis Prevention: Tackling Horizontal Inequalities'. *Oxford Development Studies* 28 (3): 245–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/713688319.
- ———. 2006. 'Policies towards Horizontal Inequalities in Post-Conflict Reconstruction'. 149. Helsinki: UNU World institute for development economics research (UNU-WIDER). https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230595194_7.
- ——. 2007. 'Horizontal Inequalities and Conflict: Chapter 1: Horisontal Inequalities: An Introduction and Some Hypotheses'. In *Conflict Prevention and Peaceful Development: Policies to Reduce Inequality and Exclusion*. Queen Elizabeth House, Oxford: Centre for Research on Inequality, Human Security and Ethnicity, CRISE. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08bfc40f0b64974000f00/conference paper1.pdf.

- 2010. 'Horizontal Inequalities as a Cause of Conflict; A Review of CRISE Findings'.
 Background Paper World Development Report 2011. World Development Report.
 World Bank.
- Stewart, Frances, Graham K. Brown, and Arnim Langer. 2007. 'Policies towards Horizontal Inequalities'. Centre for Research on Inequality, Human Security and Ethnicity, CRISE. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230582729_14.
- Stewart, Frances, Graham Brown, and Luca Mancini. 2005. 'Why Horizontal Inequalities Matter: Some Implications for Measurement'. *CRISE Working Paper*.
- 'Syria'. n.d. UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program. Accessed 23 April 2019. https://www.ucdp.uu.se/#country/652.
- The World Bank. 2018. 'World Development Indicators | DataBank'. The World Bank. 2018. http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-development-indicators&Type=TABLE&preview=on.
- Tom, Patrick. 2017. 'Peacebuilding, Statebuilding and Liberal Peace'. In *Liberal Peace and Post-Conflict Peacebuilding in Africa.*, 39–69. Rethinking Peace and Conflict Studies. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- 'Uganda The World Factbook'. 2019. Central Intelligence Agency. 19 April 2019. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ug.html.
- Waldorf, Lars. 2019. 'Legal Empowerment and Horizontal Inequalities after Conflict'. *The Journal of Development Studies* 55 (3): 437–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2018.1451635.
- Weiss, Thomas G., Sam Daws, and Roland Paris. 2018. 'Peacebuilding'. In *The Oxford Handbook on the United Nations*. Oxford University Press. http://oxfordhandbooks.com/view/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780198803164.001.0001/oxford hb-9780198803164-e-46.
- Yin, Robert K. 2009. *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 4. ed. Applied Social Research Methods Series, 5. London: SAGE.

Appendixes

Interview guide

Introductions: My name, my studies and my research.

Anonymity

Their introduction: What kind of organisation? What is the aim of the organisation? Where do they work? Since when have they been active in the region?

Peace and Conflict

- According to you, has the Northern conflict ended?
 - o If yes, when and why?
 - o If no, why not?
- What are your expectations of peace? What is the vision?
 - o Is Uganda there?
- What do you think were the root causes of the Northern conflict?
 - Are these issues still present today?
 - If yes, which ones and why do you think that is?

- If no, how and when were they solved?
- Are there issues that have become increasingly important to address overtime that were less prioritised before?
- What do you consider the most important issues to address in the peacebuilding process?
- What role do you believe you (the organisation) play in maintaining/ensuring peace?
- Is there anything you believe is essential, to either maintain or change, for Uganda to avoid another conflict?

Inequality

- What forms of inequality do you believe exists in Uganda?
 - o Where is it found?
 - o In what way is it unequal?
 - o Between who does the inequality exist?
 - o How is it experienced?
- What are the main obstacles to equality in Uganda?
- Is your organisation addressing issues of inequality?
 - o How?
- Do you believe that inequality had any role to play in the conflict?
 - o If yes, in what way?
- Do you believe the perception of inequality reflects any actual inequality?
- Is inequality experienced similarly all over Uganda, for everyone? Are there differences in inequality in different parts of Uganda?
- What is your opinion on if/how civil society/NGOs should work with inequality?
- What is your opinion on how Ugandan politics are addressing inequality?
- Any directives, policies or guidelines by the government that you must follow in terms of working with inequality?
 - o That you find good? That you find limiting?
- What is your perception of how the government addresses inequality?
 - o Do you think it is sufficient rate their efforts from 1-10? Would you like to see them doing things differently? How?

Development

- What is development to you?
- What is your perception of development in Uganda since the conflict?
 - Have there been enough initiatives and positive results?
 - How have initiatives and results been divided? Equally nationwide? Regional differences?
- Does your organisation prioritise development in its work?
 - o If so, are there any particular aspects/issues that you pay extra attention to?
- What is your perception of how the Ugandan government has addressed development?
 - o Any differences from during the conflict period and since it ended?
- Any directives, policies or guidelines by the government that you must follow in terms of working with development?
- What is your perception of how the government addresses development?
 - O po you think it is sufficient, rate 1-10? Is there anything you would like them to do differently? More or less of?

National unity and ethnic divisions

- Based on your experience, has the notion of being 'Ugandan' changed between when the conflict was ongoing and today?
 - O Who does it include?
- Are there any differences in attitudes towards/between different tribes/ethnic groups that you have observed between the conflict period and today?
- How do you perceive that the rest of Uganda view the Northern region and, particularly, Acholis now compared to before?
 - o (Still in connection with the LRA?)

General

- Have the main issues and projects by your organisation changed or remained the same over the course of being active in the region? Why/why not? How?
- What do you believe are the main concerns that remain to be dealt with in Uganda?
- What do you believe are the main concerns that remain to be dealt with in the Northern region in particular?

End note: Are there any questions, concerns or clarifications you would like to offer before we end the interview?